

Smoking and MS

Review of the evidence on smoking and MS

October 2021

Let's stop MS together



Contents

Executive Summary			3
1	Smoking and MS		4
	1.1	The effects of smoking, and passive smoking, on the ris MS	k of getting 4
	1.2	The effects of smoking on conversion of CIS to MS	5
	1.3	The effects of smoking on disability progression	5
	1.4	The effects of smoking on MS symptoms	6
	1.5	The effects of smoking on progression to SPMS	6
	1.6	The effects of smoking on the brain in MS	6
	1.7	The effects of smoking on MS treatments	7
	1.8	The effect of vaping on MS	7
	1.9	The effect of smoking cannabis on MS	8
2	Support to stop smoking		8
3	Conclusions and recommendations		8
4	References		10

Executive Summary

Tobacco use is one of the leading causes of death, illness and inequality. In 2018 the world health organisation estimated that there were 1.3 billion smokers worldwide and over 8 million tobacco related deaths³⁹. While the number of smokers is reducing, there is still a large number of people with MS who smoke in the UK.⁶²

Growing evidence links smoking to increased disability in people with MS^{18, 29, 33} and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) scans show greater numbers of lesions in people with MS who smoke^{1, 2, 8, 12, 15}. Smoking in people with MS is linked to a greater number of relapses^{34, 35} and quicker progression from relapsing remitting MS (RRMS) to secondary progressive MS (SPMS)^{5, 6, 11, 13, 14, 16}.

Smoking is also linked to increased risk of getting MS, and passive smoking may have a similar effect ^{4, 25, 37, 38, 44, 45, 46, 47, 59}. But there is some good news, studies have found reduced effects in those who have stopped smoking, including reduced disability accumulation^{18, 33}, clinical prognosis¹⁶ and increased time to conversion from RRMS to SPMS^{5, 13}. One study even found that for those quitting in the year after first diagnosis, the time to SPMS increased by approximately 8 years, compared to those who continued smoking⁵.

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) produces guidelines that advise health professionals on the best practices for treating patients. NICE guidelines recommend that people with MS do not smoke, as it may increase the accumulation of disability⁴⁰.

1 Smoking and MS

The UK Office for National Statistics (ONS) report a steady decline in smoking over the last 30 years. Figures from 2019 estimates that there are currently 6.9 million (14%) smokers across the UK. This is down from 20% in 2010. Of the constituent countries, 14% of adult respondents in England stated they smoked compared with 15% in Scotland, 16% in Wales and 16% in Northern Ireland. This data also shows that men are more likely to smoke than women⁴¹.

It's widely acknowledged that more wealthy people are less likely to smoke¹. A report by the Institute of Health Equality showed that in 2007, 12% of men and 10% of women in higher professional households were smokers, compared to 31% of men and 27% of women in routine and manual households⁴².

Figures published in 2020 by Public Health England estimate 23% of men with MS currently smoke. This is higher than the proportion among men without MS (19%). They estimate 15% of women with MS are currently smoke, similar to the proportion among women without MS (14%)⁶².

1.1 The effects of smoking, and passive smoking, on the risk of getting MS

There is a substantial amount of evidence indicating smoking is a risk factor for MS. This relates to people who currently smoke, rather than those who have quit smoking^{1, 4, 37, 38}. Two large reviews both estimated that the relative risk of smokers developing MS is around 50% higher than for non-smokers^{37, 38}. A study which identified a 40% increase in risk of being diagnosed with MS for current smokers, found those who had stopped smoking showed a reduction to the same level of risk of those who had never smoked¹⁴.

One large review of the research looked at the quality of evidence, and whether this showed smoking was a cause of increased risk. They identified strong evidence to support a causal relationship between smoking and the risk of getting a MS diagnosis⁴. However, two studies using a very different method tried to determine whether smoking was a cause of increased risk. These used genetic variants as a proxy for smoking. They didn't find clear evidence that genetically predicted smoking initiation or lifetime smoking were associated with MS risk^{64, 65}. Instead one suggested that rather than a causal relationship between smoking and MS risk, smoking instead accelerates the disease process in those that would have already developed MS. It's worth noting that these studies did not look at current smoking separately, as others have done.

Numerous studies have shown that nicotine itself is not the cause of an increased risk of MS^{17, 21, 22, 47}. There are many theories as to how smoking effects MS risk, but no definitive evidence of the mechanism.

There are very few studies that examine the links between passive smoking and MS risk. Those that do show that how passive smoking contributes to MS risk changes depending on the amount of exposure. Exposure to passive smoking for a greater number of years increased the risk of being diagnosed with MS^{25, 44, 45, 46, 47}.

As there is some risk of getting MS passed on through genetics, the risk associated with smoking or passive smoking is especially important for those already at increased risk, such as the mother, father, brother, sister or child of someone who has been diagnosed with $MS^{46, 47, 59}$.

1.2 The effects of smoking on conversion of CIS to MS

Few studies have examined the impact of smoking on the conversion from early MS or Clinically Isolated Syndrome (CIS) to Clinically Definite MS (CDMS). Those that have use varied methodologies and provide varied results.

A meta-analysis in 2017 found no strong evidence, due to the small number of studies⁴. Seven studies that examined conversion from CIS to CDMS were identified^{1, 2, 3, 8, 9, 10, 12}. Two used a similar approach to measure smoking at CIS diagnosis, to determine if it was a predictor of future CDMS diagnosis. One found smoking did predict conversion to CDMS, although it did not for ex-smokers¹. The study did not find smoking predictive of conversion to CDMS².

1.3 The effects of smoking on disability progression

There is a growing evidence base that supports the link between smoking and faster disease progression in MS. The Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) is a method used in clinical assessment of people with MS to quantify disability and monitor the accumulation of disability over time, where a higher score represents greater disability on a scale from 0 to 10. Many of the studies reported here use EDSS to measure disability.

A number of studies have found that people with MS who are current smokers are more likely to reach a higher EDSS compared to both those who have never smoked and those who have stopped smoking^{18, 29, 33}. These studies included people with primary progressive MS (PPMS), RRMS and SPMS. Some earlier studies did not find any link between smoking and disability progression^{7, 16, 29, 30}. However these studies mostly compared those who had smoked at any point in their lives, even if they had now stopped, to those who had never smoked. This means they did not account for the benefits gained by those who had stopped smoking.

Many of the studies compare smokers with non-smokers. But researchers are also examining the benefits of stopping smoking for people with MS. One study found that each 'smoke-free year' is associated with a reduction in risk of an increase in EDSS¹⁸. This includes those who had only stopped smoking for one year. Another study, using two different measures of disability, also found that when smokers quit there is a slowing in the rate of disability deterioration, that matches that of people who have never smoked. This suggests quitting smoking benefits people with MS⁶⁶.

Similar effects of giving up smoking have also been linked to reduced psychological impact of MS^{18, 29, 33}. But there is less research that addresses the damaging effects of smoking on MS-specific symptoms.

1.4 The effects of smoking on MS symptoms

A review of the literature completed in 2010³¹ identified three studies that examined the MS-specific effects of smoking on symptoms. One study reported an increased sensitivity to the effects of smoking during an MS relapse. This may accentuate symptoms such as mental confusion, blurred or double vision, vertigo and or ataxia (lack of voluntary coordination of muscle movements), paraesthesia (an abnormal sensation, typically tingling or pricking or 'pins and needles'), motor weakness, lassitude and fatigue. The other two studies found similar effects. One showed reduction in the ability to do upper body motor tasks immediately after smoking in people with MS. The other reported more red/green colour vision defects in smokers following recovery from an optic neuritis attack.

A more recent study found increased cognitive impairment in current heavy smokers with MS, compared to non-smokers with MS^{20} . And another found smokers with MS had more severe fatigue and depression symptoms and poorer quality of life compared to non-smokers.⁶³

There isn't enough evidence to make any definitive conclusions. But this does suggest that smoking cessation could have a beneficial effect on the symptoms experienced by people with MS.

1.5 The effects of smoking on progression to SPMS

Multiple studies have reported quicker progression from RRMS to SPMS among people who smoke^{5, 6, 11, 13, 14, 16}. This appears to be linked to the number of cigarettes smoked i.e. the more cigarettes smoked the greater the effect⁶. A meta-analysis combining three studies⁴ showed a significant effect of smoking on conversion from RRMS to SPMS, but only rated the evidence for causality as 'moderate'.

Starting smoking at an early age (and therefore increasing the number of years smoked) has also been linked to increased risk of a more quickly progressing MS¹¹. Each additional year of smoking following diagnosis of MS was found to result in accelerated time to conversion from RRMS to SPMS⁵. However, quitting can change this prognosis. One study found that SPMS occurred approximately four years earlier in people who had smoked at some point in their lives. But another study that examined the effects in those who had stopped smoking, found that those who quit at diagnosis reached a SPMS diagnosis eight years later than those who continued to smoke^{5, 13}.

Studies examining the effects of smoking on the type of MS first diagnosed did not find any link between smoking and an increased risk of diagnosis of RRMS or PPMS^{7, 11, 13, 14, 16, 37}.

1.6 The effects of smoking on the brain in MS

When examining disease progression clinicians often look for evidence of brain lesions or brain atrophy as well as the clinical characteristics, or symptoms, of MS. Gadolinium enhanced MRI is a form of MRI where dye (gadolinium) is injected into the blood stream and if it is then seen in the brain this suggests that there is a breakdown in the barrier between the brain and the rest of the body. This barrier is known as the Blood Brain Barrier (BBB). A breakdown in the BBB is often linked to increased inflammatory activity in people with MS and can correspond to a relapse or show underlying inflammatory activity in the absence of a noticeable relapse.

A different type of MRI scan, referred to as a T2 scan, uses a mathematical methodology to determine where there are lesions within the brain. While gadolinium enhanced MRI can highlight damage to the BBB and therefore indicate active inflammation, lesions detected using T2 MRI scans are a sign of myelin damage.

Studies looking at the effects of smoking on disease progression have used these T2 type MRI scans to determine the myelin damage that has occurred in people with MS who smoke and those who have never smoked. A number of MRI studies link smoking with increased brain lesions and increased brain atrophy^{1, 2, 8, 12, 15}.

One early study, which found no difference in EDSS progression between smokers and nonsmokers, identified an increase in brain lesions and brain atrophy in current smokers when compared to non-smokers¹⁶. This may reflect damage that is occurring in the brain, but is not experienced as physical disability, as captured by EDSS.

Some studies have found that lesions and atrophy in the brains of people with MS increase at a similar rate in those who smoke and those who don't. This suggests that the damage from smoking could have taken place before MS was diagnosed, leaving the brain more susceptible to damage^{8, 12, 16}. Regardless of the initial cause, this reduced brain volume may mean less ability to fight MS, or earlier experience of worsening symptoms for people with MS. When ex-smokers were examined, no significant differences in brain lesions or brain atrophy were found in those who had stopped smoking, compared to those who had never smoked. This suggests that the brain can begin to heal itself once the threat of smoking has been removed¹⁶.

1.7 The effects of smoking on MS treatments

Disease modifying treatments (DMTs) aim to reduce the number of relapses and slow down disease progression. Studies have shown that the effectiveness of two DMTs appears to be inhibited by smoking. The reasons for this are still unclear but two studies, looking at beta interferon treatments and natilizumab, found that the relapse rate during treatment was higher in smokers compared to non-smokers^{34, 35}.

1.8 The effect of vaping on MS

There is growing evidence that nicotine does not have a negative impact on risk of being diagnosed with MS, disability accumulation or disease progression in MS^{17, 21, 22, 47}. There are a number of theories as to why smoking may affect people with MS, but there is no clear evidence that identifies how smoking exerts its effects³¹. This makes it difficult to interpret wider evidence about vaping.

Two studies examining the effects of cigarette smoke and e-cigarette vapour condensate on the cells that separate the brain from the rest of the body, the Blood Brain Barrier cells, and the lung cells, found that nicotine-free cigarette smoke and nicotine-free vapour condensate both caused cell damage^{24, 36}. The study examining the effects of the vapour condensate found that the unheated liquid was much less damaging to cells compared to the heated vapour condensate (or vaped liquid), suggesting that heating the liquid to a certain temperature may activate components of the substance that increases the harm caused³⁶. So while vaping is a useful tool to aid quitting smoking, we don't know enough about it and how it may affect MS.

1.9 The effect of smoking cannabis on MS

We want to see cannabis for medicinal use available on the NHS. But we strongly advise against smoking cannabis, because of the risk associated with smoking and MS.

2 Support to stop smoking

Nicotine is extremely addictive and most smokers find it hard to give up without help. There are a number of reasons for this. In general the most common barriers to people giving up smoking are:

- Reliance on smoking to relieve stress, depression or anxiety
- Smoking for pleasure
- Social norming (friends, family, partners who smoke)

Only about 5% of unaided quit attempts result in smokers giving up for good. But with effective smoking cessation support people can be more than four times as successful in quitting⁶⁰.

The research available on this subject is vast. But there is a lack of research specific to people who have long-term health conditions.

3 Conclusions and recommendations

While it can be difficult to stop smoking, doing so has a number of health benefits for people with MS. Smoking is a modifiable behaviour that is linked to quicker disability accumulation, faster disease progression and increased risk of developing MS. This is one piece of the puzzle that people can take control of. Further research is needed to draw definitive conclusions about how smoking impacts MS risk, symptoms, and the underlying processes. But overall the evidence shows that there is a negative impact and that quitting can dramatically reduce these effects.

Our own research suggests that people with MS are not familiar with the risks of smoking related to MS. We found that people with MS who smoke reported not having been told about the importance of quitting by their healthcare professionals. Nor had many seen any information from other sources. This is despite the fact that NICE guidelines state that people with MS should be advised not to smoke.

We are taking a position to inform people with MS of the links between smoking and MS. Our recommendations are:

- 1. For charities, including the MS Society: Promote smoking cessation amongst people with MS, highlighting the risks involved and promoting the importance of quitting
 - Opportunities to signpost people to support to stop smoking should be used, as people are more likely to quit with support

- \circ $\,$ People with MS should be able to access the most up to date information on smoking and MS $\,$
- Those related to someone with MS are more likely to be diagnosed with MS, and smoking may increase this risk further. Highlight this risk in information resources to encourage people at greater risk of an MS diagnosis to
- 2. For people with MS:
 - Vaping should be considered as a route towards quitting only rather than a replacement to smoking long term
 - Cannabis should not be smoked by people with MS to relieve their symptoms, whether vaping cannabis is appropriate is an issue which will need to be considered as access to cannabis progresses
- 3. For health professionals: Bring up the importance of giving up smoking as soon as appropriate near the time of diagnosis and at annual reviews.
- 4. For the UK government: Reverse cuts to public health funding for local authorities to allow people to access smoking cessation services.

4 References

- Pichler A, Khalil M, Langkammer C, Pinter D, Ropele S, Fuchs S, Bachmaier G, Enzinger C, Fazekas F. (2017) The impact of vascular risk factors on brain volume and lesion load in patients with early multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. Oct 1:1352458517736149. doi: 10.1177/1352458517736149. [Epub ahead of print]
- Graetz C, Gröger A, Luessi F, et al. (2018) Association of smoking but not HLA-DRB1*15:01, APOE or body mass index with brain atrophy in early multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. Mar 1:1352458518763541. doi: 10.1177/1352458518763541. [Epub ahead of print]
- Van der Vuurst de Vries, R. M., Mescheriakova, J. Y., Runia, T. F., Siepman, T. A. M., Wokke, B. H. A., Samijn, J. P. A., & Hintzen, R. Q. (2018). Smoking at time of CIS increases the risk of clinically definite multiple sclerosis. Journal of Neurology, 265(5), 1010–1015. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-018-8780-4</u>
- 4. Degelman ML, Herman KM. (2017) Smoking and multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis using the Bradford Hill criteria for causation. Mult Scler Relat Disord. Oct;17:207-216. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2017.07.020. Epub 2017 Jul 21.
- Ramanujam R, Hedström AK, Manouchehrinia A, Alfredsson L, Olsson T, Bottai M, Hillert J. (2015) Effect of Smoking Cessation on Multiple Sclerosis Prognosis. JAMA Neurol. Oct;72(10):1117-23. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.1788.
- Roudbari SA, Ansar MM, Yousefzad A. (2013) Smoking as a risk factor for development of Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis: A study in IRAN, Guilan. J Neurol Sci. Jul 15;330(1-2):52-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2013.04.003. Epub 2013 Apr 26.
- 7. Koch M, van Harten A, Uyttenboogaart M, De Keyser J. (2007) Cigarette smoking and progression in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. Oct 9;69(15):1515-20.
- 8. Arikanoglu A, Shugaiv E, Tüzün E, Eraksoy M. (2013) Impact of cigarette smoking on conversion from clinically isolated syndrome to clinically definite multiple sclerosis. Int J Neurosci. Jul;123(7):476-9. doi: 10.3109/00207454.2013.764498. Epub 2013 Feb 6.
- 9. Correale J, Farez MF. (2015) Smoking worsens multiple sclerosis prognosis: two different pathways are involved. J Neuroimmunol. Apr 15;281:23-34. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2015.03.006. Epub 2015 Mar 6.
- Pittas F, Ponsonby AL, van der Mei IA, Taylor BV, Blizzard L, Groom P, Ukoumunne OC, Dwyer T. (2009) Smoking is associated with progressive disease course and increased progression in clinical disability in a prospective cohort of people with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. Apr;256(4):577-85. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-0120-2. Epub 2009 Apr 9.
- 11. Sundström P, Nyström L. (2008) Smoking worsens the prognosis in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. Sep;14(8):1031-5. doi: 10.1177/1352458508093615. Epub 2008 Jul 16.
- 12. Horakova D, Zivadinov R, Weinstock-Guttman B, et al. (2013) Environmental factors associated with disease progression after the first demyelinating event: results from the multi-center SET study. PLoS One. 8(1):e53996. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053996. Epub 2013 Jan 8.
- O'Gorman CM, Broadley S2. (2016) Smoking increases the risk of progression in multiple sclerosis: A cohort study in Queensland, Australia. J Neurol Sci. Nov 15;370:219-223. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2016.09.057. Epub 2016 Sep 28.

- 14. Hernán MA, Jick SS, Logroscino G, Olek MJ, Ascherio A, Jick H. (2005) Cigarette smoking and the progression of multiple sclerosis. Brain. Jun;128(Pt 6):1461-5. Epub 2005 Mar 9.
- Zivadinov, R., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Hashmi, K., Abdelrahman, N., Stosic, M., Dwyer, M., ... Ramanathan, M. (2009). Smoking is associated with increased lesion volumes and brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. Neurology, 73(7), 504–510. <u>http://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181b2a706</u>
- Healy, B. C., Ali, E., Guttmann, C. R. G., Chitnis, T., Glanz, B. I., Buckle, G., ... Ascherio, A. (2009). Smoking and Disease Progression in Multiple Sclerosis. Archives of Neurology, 66(7), 858–864. <u>http://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2009.122</u>
- 17. Hedström AK, Hillert J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L. (2013) Nicotine might have a protective effect in the etiology of multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. Jul;19(8):1009-13. doi: 10.1177/1352458512471879. Epub 2013 Jan 14.
- Tanasescu R, Constantinescu CS, Tench CR, Manouchehrinia A. (2018) Smoking Cessation and the Reduction of Disability Progression in Multiple Sclerosis: A Cohort Study. Nicotine Tob Res. Apr 2;20(5):589-595. doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntx084.
- 19. Auer M, Hegen H, Luft T, Bsteh G, Fogdell-Hahn A, Loercher A, Deisenhammer F. (2016) Serum Cotinine Does Not Predict Neutralizing Antibodies Against Interferon Beta in an Austrian MS Cohort. J Interferon Cytokine Res. Dec;36(12):667-670. Epub 2016 Oct 19.
- 20. Özcan, M. E., İnce, B., Bingöl, A., Ertürk, S., Altınöz, M. A., Karadeli, H. H., ... Asil, T. (2014). Association between smoking and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, 10, 1715–1719. <u>http://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S68389</u>
- 21. Carlens C, Hergens MP, Grunewald J, Ekbom A, Eklund A, Höglund CO, Askling J. (2010) Smoking, use of moist snuff, and risk of chronic inflammatory diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. Jun 1;181(11):1217-22. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200909-1338OC. Epub 2010 Mar 4.
- Hedström AK, Bäärnhielm M, Olsson T, Alfredsson L. (2009) Tobacco smoking, but not Swedish snuff use, increases the risk of multiple sclerosis. Neurology. Sep 1;73(9):696-701. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181b59c40.
- 23. Emre M, de Decker C. (1992) Effects of cigarette smoking on motor functions in patients with multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol. Dec;49(12):1243-7.
- Naik, P., Fofaria, N., Prasad, S., Sajja, R. K., Weksler, B., Couraud, P.-O., ... Cucullo, L. (2014). Oxidative and pro-inflammatory impact of regular and denicotinized cigarettes on blood brain barrier endothelial cells: is smoking reduced or nicotine-free products really safe? BMC Neuroscience, 15, 51. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-15-51</u>
- 25. Sundström P, Nyström L, Hallmans G. (2008) Smoke exposure increases the risk for multiple sclerosis. Eur J Neurol. Jun;15(6):579-83. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02122.x.
- 26. Marck, C. H., De Livera, A. M., Weiland, T. J., Jelinek, P. L., Neate, S. L., Brown, C. R., ... Jelinek, G. A. (2017). Pain in People with Multiple Sclerosis: Associations with Modifiable Lifestyle Factors, Fatigue, Depression, Anxiety, and Mental Health Quality of Life. Frontiers in Neurology, 8, 461. <u>http://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2017.00461</u>
- 27. Palacios N, Munger KL, Fitzgerald KC, Hart JE, Chitnis T, Ascherio A, Laden F. (2017) Exposure to particulate matter air pollution and risk of multiple sclerosis in two large cohorts of US nurses. Environ Int. Dec;109:64-72. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2017.07.013. Epub 2017 Sep 20.

- 28. Yu, R., Deochand, C., Krotow, A., Leão, R., Tong, M., Agarwal, A. R., ... de la Monte, S. M. (2016). Tobacco Smoke-Induced Brain White Matter Myelin Dysfunction: Potential Co-Factor Role of Smoking in Neurodegeneration. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease: JAD, 50(1), 133–148. <u>http://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-150751</u>
- 29. Heydarpour P, Manouchehrinia A, Beiki O, Mousavi SE, Abdolalizadeh A, -Lakeh MM, Sahraian MA. (2018) Smoking and worsening disability in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis. Acta Neurol Scand. Jul;138(1):62-69. doi: 10.1111/ane.12916. Epub 2018 Mar 15.
- 30. Javizian O, Metz LM, Deighton S, Koch MW. (2017) Smoking does not influence disability accumulation in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Eur J Neurol. Apr;24(4):624-630. doi: 10.1111/ene.13262. Epub 2017 Feb 26.
- 31. Shirani, A., & Tremlett, H. (2010). The effect of smoking on the symptoms and progression of multiple sclerosis: a review. Journal of Inflammation Research, 3, 115–126. http://doi.org/10.2147/JIR.S12059
- 32. Kvistad, S., Myhr, K.-M., Holmøy, T., Benth, J. Š., Løken-Amsrud, K. I., Wergeland, S., ... Torkildsen, Ø. (2016). No association of tobacco use and disease activity in multiple sclerosis. Neurology® Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation, 3(4), e260. <u>http://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000000260</u>
- 33. Manouchehrinia A, Tench CR, Maxted J, Bibani RH, Britton J, Constantinescu CS. (2013) Tobacco smoking and disability progression in multiple sclerosis: United Kingdom cohort study. Brain. Jul;136(Pt 7):2298-304.
- 34. Petersen ER, Oturai AB, Koch-Henriksen N, Magyari M, Sørensen PS, Sellebjerg F, Søndergaard HB. (2018) Smoking affects the interferon beta treatment response in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. Feb 13;90(7):e593-e600. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004949. Epub 2018 Jan 17.
- 35. Petersen ER, Søndergaard HB, Laursen JH, Olsson AG, Börnsen L, Soelberg Sørensen P, Sellebjerg F, Bang Oturai A. (2018) Smoking is associated with increased disease activity during natalizumab treatment in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. Aug 2:1352458518791753. doi: 10.1177/1352458518791753. [Epub ahead of print]
- 36. Scott A, Lugg ST, Aldridge K, Lewis KE, Bowden A, Mahida RY, Grudzinska FS, Dosanjh D, Parekh D, Foronjy R, Sapey E, Naidu B, Thickett DR. (2018) Pro-inflammatory effects of ecigarette vapour condensate on human alveolar macrophages. Thorax. Aug 13. pii: thoraxjnl-2018-211663. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2018-211663. [Epub ahead of print]
- 37. Wingerchuk, D. M. (2012). Smoking: effects on multiple sclerosis susceptibility and disease progression. Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders, 5(1), 13–22. <u>http://doi.org/10.1177/1756285611425694</u>
- 38. Poorolajal J, Bahrami M, Karami M, Hooshmand E. (2016) Effect of smoking on multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. J Public Health (Oxf). May 8. Epub ahead of print
- 39. World Health Organisation Tobacco 2020. https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/tobacco Last accessed 09/06/2021.
- 40. NICE. Multiple Sclerosis management in adults. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg186/chapter/1-Recommendations
- 41. ONS Statistical bulletin: Adult smoking habits in the UK: 2019. -<u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeex</u> <u>pectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2019</u>

- 42. Fair Society, Healthy Lives. The Marmot review. 2010. <u>http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf. Last accessed 20/03/2018.</u>
- 43. Rodgers, J.W. Smoking and MS. https://blog.msregister.org/archives/410
- 44. Zhang, P., Wang, R., Li, Z., Wang, Y., Gao, C., Lv, X., ... Li, B. (2016). The risk of smoking on multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis based on 20,626 cases from case-control and cohort studies. PeerJ, 4, e1797. <u>http://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1797</u>
- 45. Hedström AK, Bäärnhielm M, Olsson T, Alfredsson L. (2011) Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke is associated with increased risk for multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. Jul;17(7):788-93. doi: 10.1177/1352458511399610. Epub 2011 Mar 3.
- 46. Mikaeloff Y, Caridade G, Tardieu M, Suissa S; KIDSEP study group. (2007) Parental smoking at home and the risk of childhood-onset multiple sclerosis in children. Brain. Oct;130(Pt 10):2589-95. Epub 2007 Sep 7.
- Hedström AK, Olsson T, Alfredsson L. (2016) Smoking is a major preventable risk factor for multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. Jul;22(8):1021-6. doi: 10.1177/1352458515609794. Epub 2015 Oct 12.
- Cummings KM, Hyland A, Carlin-Menter S, Mahoney MC, Willett J, Juster HR. (2011) Cummings KM1, Hyland A, Carlin-Menter S, Mahoney MC, Willett J, Juster HR. J Public Health Manag Pract. May-Jun;17(3):E16-23. doi: 10.1097/PHH.0b013e3182113871.
- 49. Friend KB, Mernoff ST, Block P, Reeve G. (2006) Smoking rates and smoking cessation among individuals with multiple sclerosis. Disabil Rehabil. Sep 30;28(18):1135-41.
- 50. Ciccolo, J. T., Williams, D. M., Dunsiger, S. I., Whitworth, J. W., McCullough, A. K., Bock, B. B., ... Myerson, M. (2014). Efficacy of Resistance Training as an Aid to Smoking Cessation: Rationale and Design of the Strength To Quit Study. Mental Health and Physical Activity, 7(2), 95–103. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2014.05.004</u>
- 51. Tavee, J. (2012). Smoking cessation for the neurologic patient. Neurology: Clinical Practice, 2(2), 112–121. <u>http://doi.org/10.1212/CPJ.0b013e31825a7812</u>
- 52. Marck, C. H., De Livera, A. M., Brown, C. R., Neate, S. L., Taylor, K. L., Weiland, T. J., ... Jelinek, G. A. (2018). Health outcomes and adherence to a healthy lifestyle after a multimodal intervention in people with multiple sclerosis: Three year follow-up. PLoS ONE, 13(5), e0197759. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197759</u>
- 53. Diaz-Cruz C, Chua AS, Malik MT, Kaplan T, Glanz BI, Egorova S, Guttmann CRG, Bakshi R, Weiner HL, Healy BC, Chitnis T. (2017) The effect of alcohol and red wine consumption on clinical and MRI outcomes in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Relat Disord. Oct;17:47-53. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2017.06.011. Epub 2017 Jun 27.
- 54. Hu, T., Sung, H., Keeler, T., & Marciniak, M. (2000). Cigarette consumption and sales of nicotine replacement products. Tobacco Control, 9(Suppl 2), ii60–ii63. <u>http://doi.org/10.1136/tc.9.suppl_2.ii60</u>
- 55. Bergamaschi R, Cortese A, Pichiecchio A, Berzolari FG, Borrelli P, Mallucci G, Bollati V, Romani A, Nosari G, Villa S, Montomoli C. (2017) Air pollution is associated to the multiple sclerosis inflammatory activity as measured by brain MRI. Mult Scler. Aug 1:1352458517726866. doi: 10.1177/1352458517726866. [Epub ahead of print]

- 56. Roux J, Bard D, Le Pabic E, Segala C, Reis J, Ongagna JC, de Sèze J, Leray E. (2017) Air pollution by particulate matter PM10 may trigger multiple sclerosis relapses. Environ Res. Jul;156:404-410. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2017.03.049. Epub 2017 Apr 11.
- 57. Mehrpour, M., Shams-Hosseini, N. S., Rezaali, S., Sahraiian, M. A., & Taki, S. (2013). Effect of Air Pollutant Markers on Multiple Sclerosis Relapses. Iranian Journal of Public Health, 42(10), 1167–1173.
- 58. Heydarpour P, Amini H, Khoshkish S, Seidkhani H, Sahraian MA, Yunesian M. (2014) Potential impact of air pollution on multiple sclerosis in Tehran, Iran. Neuroepidemiology. 43(3-4):233-8. doi: 10.1159/000368553. Epub 2014 Dec 9.
- O'Gorman, C., Lucas, R., & Taylor, B. (2012). Environmental Risk Factors for Multiple Sclerosis: A Review with a Focus on Molecular Mechanisms. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 13(9), 11718–11752. <u>http://doi.org/10.3390/ijms130911718</u>
- 60. ASH: <u>http://ash.org.uk/category/information-and-resources/smoking-cessation-</u>treatment/
- 61. https://www.gov.uk/government/news/highest-smoking-quit-success-rates-on-record
- 62. Public Health England (2020) Multiple sclerosis: prevalence, incidence and smoking status data briefing - <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multiple-sclerosis-prevalence-incidence-and-smoking-status</u>
- 63. Kahraman T, Ozdogar AT, Abasiyanik Z, Ozakbas S; Multiple Sclerosis Research Group. Associations between smoking and walking, fatigue, depression, and health-related quality of life in persons with multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Belg. 2020 Mar 28. doi: 10.1007/s13760-020-01341-2.
- 64. Mitchell RE, Bates K, Wootton RE, Harroud A, Richards JB, Davey Smith G, Munafò MR. Little evidence for an effect of smoking on multiple sclerosis risk: A Mendelian Randomization study. PLoS Biol. 2020 Nov 30;18(11):e3000973. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000973.
- 65. Vandebergh M, Goris A. Smoking and multiple sclerosis risk: a Mendelian randomization study. J Neurol. 2020 Oct;267(10):3083-3091. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-09980-4.
- 66. Jeff Rodgers, Tim Friede, Frederick W Vonberg, Cris S Constantinescu, Alasdair Coles, Jeremy Chataway, Martin Duddy, Hedley Emsley, Helen Ford, Leonora Fisniku, Ian Galea, Timothy Harrower, Jeremy Hobart, Huseyin Huseyin, Christopher M Kipps, Monica Marta, Gavin V McDonnell, Brendan McLean, Owen R Pearson, David Rog, Klaus Schmierer, Basil Sharrack, Agne Straukiene, Heather C Wilson, David V Ford, Rod M Middleton, Richard Nicholas, The MS Register group, The impact of smoking cessation on multiple sclerosis disease progression, *Brain*, 2021; doi.org/10.1093/brain/awab385